THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County
Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JAN 07 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

V.

CYNTHIA MANSELL GREENFIELD,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000015

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TIMOTHY L. GRIFFITH
Attorney at Law
360 West Wesmark Blvd
Sumter, SC 29154
(803) 499-2012

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender
South Carolina Office of Appellate Defense
1205 Pendleton Street Room 306
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Court err in qualifying Detective Chad Brooks as Expert in the amount of Meth allegedly produced by Appellant?
2. Did the Court err in not granting a Directed Verdict when:
 - a. All evidence of the level of Meth involved in the case was circumstantial and the State had not adduced substantial circumstantial evidence as to the amount of Meth involved in any conspiracy beyond a reasonable doubt;

AND
 - b. The State charged Appellant with trafficking of over twenty-eight (28) grams of Meth when no evidence existed that an amount of Meth was possessed, produced, trafficked or otherwise involved that reached the level of twenty-eight (28) grams by Appellant under S.C. Code of Laws SECTION 44-53-375, as charged, within any viable timeframe of the ongoing investigation, and when experts disagree as to the yield of Meth that can be produced from a given amount of Sudafed, presuming all of it was used to produce Meth AND all used in one conspiracy to produce Meth.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, along with her husband and many other defendants, were arrested after authorities had conducted a long term investigation from December, 22 2010, Tr.p. 197 16-20 to December 31, 2011, Tr.p. 42 4.

Appellant was arrested after a legal purchase of Sudafed. She was allegedly conspiring to use the Sudafed to produce Methamphetamine (Meth).

At the trial, most of the approximately 40 witnesses were co-defendants who had made deals with the State to testify against the two (2) defendants on trial, Appellant and her husband. The two were initially charge with trafficking in Meth, over 100 grams. Tr.p. 10 13-21 The State during the trial agreed to reduce the amount to 28 to 100 grams Tr.p. 11 9-14, which also falls under trafficking, after the Court expressed misgivings as to the alleged amounts produced in evidence. Tr.p. 667 13-25, Tr.p. 668 1-25

No Meth lab nor any Meth at all was in evidence, thus the case was based solely on the amount of Sudafed purchased by all of the co-defendants over the course of the long investigation. Tr.p 78 22-25, Tr.p. 79 1-4

Witnesses testified that some part of the Sudafed purchased was kept by that witness and the rest was given to Appellant and her husband allegedly to use in production of Meth. Tr.p. 314 15-24 Attorneys for Co-defendant, her husband Michael Mealor, also presented evidence that some part of the sinus medications purchased was most likely used for a medical condition of the co-defendant, Appellant's husband. Tr.p. 572 20-24

Appellant was found guilty along with her husband of trafficking in Meth of 28 to 100 grams under S.C. Code Section 44-53-375. Tr.p. 730.

Appellant filed timely notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

FACTS OF THE CASE

The State's case was that the amount of Sudafed purchased was used to produce Meth. Respondent offered as an expert witness, over objection of Appellant, Detective Chad Brooks of the Pickens County Sheriff's Office Tr.p. 423 19-25, Tr.p. 424 1-5, who had only a high school education in chemistry. Tr.p. 435 5-6 Detective Brooks testified that he learned how to determine an amount of Meth producible from a given amount of Sudafed by reading information on the internet, Tr.p. 454 20-23 and from common training of sheriff's deputies through continuing education classes. Tr.p. 427, Tr.p 428 1-21

The officer did testify that the yield varied from 40 to 92%. He also testified on questioning, that the 92% was produced under conditions of a State controlled lab of the sheriff's department. Tr.p. 449 2-3, 10-11. Appellant argued that experts disagree as to the amount of Meth than can be yielded from a given amount of Sudafed and that the yield ranges from 0% to the 90% range under perfect conditions. Tr.p. 463 12-20, Tr.p. 526 6-8.

Respondent did not have testimony or evidence that the sheriff's department seized any Meth or that a Meth Lab existed or was ever found under control of Appellant, her husband or any co-defendants. Tr.p 78 22-25, Tr.p. 79 1-4

Because no Meth or Meth lab were in evidence or seized as part of the long investigation, the evidence at the trial was circumstantial and speculative as to amounts of Meth produced and therefore the charge of trafficking in an amount of over 28 grams and less than 100 grams cannot be supported by evidence.

Appellant moved for a Directed Verdict, which was denied, Tr.p. 732 12-20 and in the same motion and in prior motions for the amount of Meth produced to be reduced due to the speculative nature of evidence. Both motions were denied by the Court even though the Court expressed misgivings as to the amounts and the methods used to determine amounts of Meth allegedly produced, or conspired to be produced. Tr.p. 667 13-25, Tr.p. 668 1-25.

ARGUMENT

1. The Court erred in qualifying as Expert Detective Chad Brooks as an expert in the amount of Meth allegedly produced by Appellant.

The Court qualified Chad Brooks as Expert witness over objection of Appellant when this witness did not meet the level of expertise that would qualify him as an expert in the amount of Meth allegedly produced by Appellant. This was an error.

The determination as a fact, of an amount of Meth produced from any given amount of one of the ingredients, namely Sudafed, was beyond the scope of his expertise and he was unqualified to testify as to a chemical analysis in that he admittedly lacked any chemical training other than having taken a chemistry class in high school.

Detective Brooks supervises a large area of investigations within the sheriff's department, as he stated under questioning:

Technically, I supervise everybody that falls under the umbrella of the detective division, which includes general investigations, juvenile investigations, school resource officers, victim services, special operations and narcotics, forensics and aviation.

Tr.p 424 8-12

In Appellant's objection, defense counsel objected to the witness' testimony as a scientific expert when the witness has had no scientific training and has no scientific knowledge otherwise.

I do object if they intend -- and I believe they are going to try to get in these formulas, which are chemistry, probably goes to scientific area, which requires scientific knowledge and needs a properly trained scientist to testify to such expert knowledge. He's never been qualified as such an expert by his own testimony. He's never had any training in chemistry. He

has no chemical degree. He's never studied chemistry as far as we've heard. So he does not rise to the level of scientific expert in the field of chemistry, which I believe is what they're trying to get into.

Tr.p. 430 4-14

The admission of expert testimony is governed by Rule 702, SCRE, which provides:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

And in Watson v Ford, the S.C. Supreme Court states:

First, the trial court must find that the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury. See State v. Douglas, 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009) (holding that the witness was improperly qualified as a forensic interviewing expert where the nature of her testimony was based on personal observations and discussions with the child victim). Next, while the expert need not be a specialist in the particular branch of the field, the trial court must find that the proffered expert has indeed acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject matter. See Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp., 326 S.C. 248, 252-53, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997) (observing that to be competent to testify as an expert, a witness must have acquired by reason of study or experience such knowledge and skill in a profession or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony). Finally, the trial court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable. See State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (evaluating whether expert testimony on DNA analysis met the reliability requirements). Expert testimony is not admissible unless it satisfies all three requirements with respect to subject matter, expert qualifications, and reliability.

Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 at 175 (S.C., 2010)

In the instant case, Detective Brooks does not meet the second level of requirements, and the court incorrectly determined reliability, the third element of analysis.

The jury was prejudiced by the testimony of Detective Brooks given his stature as a sheriff's detective. While the defense had no burden, had the Jury heard testimony from an expert refuting the calculations of Detective Brooks, the verdict may have reflected the difference in calculation because experts disagree as to the yield possible from a given amount of Sudafed.

2. The Court erred in not granting a Motion for Directed Verdict Tr.p. 732 12-20 made by Appellant, Tr.p. 731 14-23 when:

a. All evidence of the level of Meth involved in the case was circumstantial and the State had not proven the allegations as to amount of Meth produced or conspired to be produced beyond a reasonable doubt.

In State v. Logan, 747 S.E.2d 444, 405 S.C. 83 (S.C., 2013), the South Carolina Supreme Court restated the circumstances wherein a Court may not allow a jury to convict.

“The traditional circumstantial evidence definition illustrates the deficiency in the State's evidence against [the defendant]. This definition provided that if the State relies on circumstantial evidence to prove its case, the jury may not convict the defendant unless: Every circumstance relied upon by the State be proven beyond a reasonable doubt; and ... all of the circumstances proven be consistent with each other and taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis. Despite the Court's abandonment of the use of this particular definition as a jury charge in State v. Cherry, the definition illustrates the lack of evidence against [the defendant]. The State's key circumstantial evidence: (1) [The defendant's] location in the getaway car a relatively short time after the robbery; (2) [The defendant's] flight from law enforcement; and (3) [The defendant's] attempt to enlist the assistance of an uninvolved individual, do not point to his guilt for the crimes charged to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis—namely, the notion that he did in fact join [the

defendants] at a gas station following the crime. Id. at 590–91, 720 S.E.2d at 52–53 (citing *State v. Hernandez*, 382 S.C. 620, 626 n. 2, 677 S.E.2d 603, 606 n. 2 (2009); *State v. Edwards*, 298 S.C. 272, 274–76, 379 S.E.2d 888, 889 (1989), abrogated by *Cherry*, 361 S.C. at 595–606, 606 S.E.2d at 478–82).”
State v. Logan, 747 S.E.2d 444 at 449, (S.C. 2013)

In the instant case, the circumstantial and speculative nature of the evidence pertaining to an amount of Meth produced, or conspired to be produced by the Defendants, did not meet the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt and a directed verdict should have been granted to Appellant.

In *State v. Bostick*, the S. C. Supreme Court set the criteria for a Directed Verdict as well and stated:

A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial "if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced." *State v. Mitchell*, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000); see also *State v. Williams*, 321 S.C. 327, 332, 468 S.E.2d 626, 629 (1996). "The jury weighs the evidence but when there is an absence of evidence, it becomes the duty of the trial judge to direct a verdict" *State v. Schrock*, 283 S.C. 129, 134, 322 S.E.2d 450, 452-53 (1984). Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt. Id. at 133, 322 S.E.2d 452 (citing *State v. Manis*, 214 S.C. 99, 51 S.E.2d 370 (1949)). "Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error." *State v. Irvin*, 270 S.C. 539, 543, 243 S.E.2d 195, 197 (1978) (citing *State v. Massey*, 267 S.C. 432, 229 S.E.2d 332 (1976)). On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, this Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. *State v. Martin*, 340 S.C. 597, 602, 533 S.E.2d 572, 574 (2000).
State v. Bostick 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (S.C., 2011)

In the instant case, there is an absence of evidence of the true amount of Meth that was produced by the defendants, but only speculation as to an amount that possibly could have been produced. There was no positive proof of the fact of a quantity of Meth produced. Here there is a failure of competent evidence of the charges alleged, that is, of an amount of Meth greater than 28 grams and less than 100 grams as charged.

b. The State charged Appellant with trafficking of over twenty-eight (28) grams of Meth when no evidence existed that an amount of Meth was possessed, Tr.p 78 22-25 Tr.p. 79 1-4, produced, trafficked or otherwise involved that reached the level of twenty-eight (28) grams by Appellant under S.C. Code of Laws SECTION 44-53-375, as charged, within any viable timeframe of the ongoing investigation, and when experts disagree as to the yield of Meth that can be produced from a given amount of Sudafed, presuming all of it was used to produce Meth AND all used in one conspiracy to produce Meth

In Dervin v State, the South Carolina Supreme Court agreed with the U.S. Supreme Court decisions that the amount of drugs needs to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

United States Supreme Court's decisions in Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000) and Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004) require the amount of drugs to be submitted to the jury to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. We agree.
Dervin v State, 687 S.E.2d 712, 386 S.C. 164 (S.C., 2009)

The State offered no proof other than speculation and circumstantial evidence as to what amount of Meth was produced or conspired to be produced and therefore did not meet the burden of proof for the amounts

charged in the indictment nor for the amounts later agreed to when the State conceded that the charge of over 100 grams may be too hard to prove and added the lesser 28 to 100 grams. Tr.p. 686 18-25 The State offered only that Appellant purchased during the investigation only 68.64 grams of Sudafed, Tr.p. 186 22, when the legal limit for purchase by an individual is 108 grams per year Tr.p. 87 20-25.

The length of the investigation covered a substantial amount of time, from December, 22 2010, Tr.p. 197 16-20, to December 31, 2011, Tr.p. 42 4, and Appellants as well as other co-defendants testified that Sudafed was used for other than the production of Meth, such as for its intended medical use, and Respondent failed to meet the burden of proof otherwise.

Testimony as to the yield from production of Meth from Sudafed was not offered from a qualified chemist with expertise in the area but rather by a deputy sheriff who was not a chemist or qualified as a laboratory expert. Testimony as to the range of production varied and experts disagree as to the amounts obtainable and in particular, under less than controlled laboratory conditions.

No laboratory for the production of Meth was seized or offered as evidence in the case.

The calculations are speculative and circumstantial at best due partly to the length of time covered in the investigation and the lack of agreement as to yield.

An argument exists as to how long an investigation should last before the time frame becomes unreasonable in determining a speculative calculation as to

amounts of Meth produced or conspired to be produced. The question arises under a hypothetical situation. A person buys Sudafed over the course of twenty-eight (28) years in the legal amount allowed under the law and the sheriff's office monitors the purchases. Each year, the person uses the medication as prescribed, except that one (1) gram of Meth is produced and consumed by the person or others. After twenty-eight (28) years, can the person be charged under the trafficking statute because twenty-eight (28) grams of Meth was produced? What if the time frame were 10 years and just 3 grams produced each year? At what point does a series of conspiracies to produce 1 gram of Meth become a conspiracy to produce 28 to 100 grams of Meth? In the instant case, no Meth was presented into evidence, no large stash of Sudafed and no meth lab were produced into evidence.

The Jury was prejudiced by the testimony that evoked a percentage of Meth produced solely based on a random calculation of the amount of Meth possible. The qualification of Chad Brooks as an Expert, when Mr. Brooks did not have sufficient expertise as to the yield from Sudafed in producing Meth may have prejudiced the jury as to the amounts produced, or conspired to be produced, by Appellant. But no evidence of a conspiracy to produce a given amount of Meth greater than 28 grams was presented.

The calculations were speculative at best and not scientifically reliable. In State v. Jones, 681 S.E.2d 580, 383 S.C. 535 (2009), the South Carolina Supreme Court reversed on the grounds that the expert testimony concerning "Barefoot insole impression evidence," as presented by an expert witness, is not

scientifically reliable. In this instant case, the testimony as to yield is not scientifically reliable as the witness is not a scientist, and no evidence of the exact amount of Meth produced was entered by the State/Respondent.

Cognizant of these cases and our limited standard of review, we find the evidence presented in the instant case does not satisfy the requisite reliability factors in Jones. As stated in Jones I, these reliability factors take into consideration: (1) the publications and peer reviews of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures. Jones I, 343 S.C. at 573, 541 S.E.2d at 819. State v. Jones, 681 S.E.2d 580 at 591, 383 S.C. 535 (S.C., 2009).


CONCLUSION

1. The Case should be reversed and remanded based on expert testimony given by an unqualified expert in the area of yield.
2. The case should be reversed and a directed verdict for Appellant be granted:
 - a. Based on the level of circumstantial evidence, and:
 - b. The State did not prove amounts of Meth conspired to be produced or produced beyond a reasonable doubt, and an amount must be proven without speculative calculations as to chemical yields, but yields based on actual amounts produced.

By reason of the foregoing arguments, Appellant's convictions should be reversed.