ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

DEC 29 2017

Appeal From Pickens County  
The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2014-000015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

CYNTHIA MANSELL GREENFIELD,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

W. Walter Wilkins  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

214 E. Main Street  
Pickens, SC 29671  
(864) 898-5905

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The circuit court properly qualified the lead investigator as an expert in clandestine methamphetamine manufacturing based on his extensive training and experience in narcotics investigations, specifically methamphetamine and methamphetamine labs.**

Appellant asserts the circuit court erred in qualifying Capt. Brooks as an expert because he “did not meet the level of expertise that would qualify him as an expert in the amount of Meth allegedly produced by Appellant.” He contends the yield rate of pseudoephedrine to methamphetamine “was beyond the scope of [Capt. Brooks’] expertise” because he “lacked any chemical training other than having taken a chemistry class in high school.”

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2013); State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006) (same); State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 768 S.E.2d 246, 249 (Ct. App. 2015) (same); State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999) (same). A prejudicial abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009); State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-848 (2006) (same).

If scientific, technical, or **other specialized knowledge** will assist the trier of fact in understanding the evidence, or determining a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by **knowledge, skill, experience, training**, or education, may testify about the evidence or fact in the form of an opinion or otherwise. Rule 702, SCRE. To be

competent to testify as an expert, “a witness must have acquired by reason of **study** or **experience** or both such **knowledge** and **skill** in a **profession** or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony.” Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hospital, 326 S.C. 248, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1996) (citation omitted) (emphasis added).

Qualification of an expert witness and the admissibility of the expert's testimony are matters within the trial court's discretion, and absent a showing of abuse, the appellate court will not disturb the trial court's determination regarding a witness' qualifications as an expert. State v. Baker, 2015 WL 543493, \*9 (S.C. Sup. Ct, filed February 11, 2015) (Toal, CJ, dissenting opinion) (*citing* State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 [1993]). Defects in an expert witness's education and experience go to the weight of the expert's testimony, rather than its admissibility. *Id.* (*citing* Gooding, 487 S.E.2d at 598).

Capt. Brooks had over twenty years experience in law enforcement, much of which involved narcotics investigations. He also had extensive training and experience involving methamphetamine manufacturing. He testified he “had over a thousand hours just specialized in narcotics investigations,” and was DEA certified as a site safety officer at methamphetamine labs. He had participated in “thousands” of general methamphetamine investigations, and approximately 200 investigations dealing with methamphetamine labs. (TT, pp. 423-430, 439; R., pp. 142-149, 158).

During his methamphetamine specific training, Capt. Brooks actually manufactured methamphetamine from pseudoephedrine in the SLED lab, and was trained on the methamphetamine yield rates from precursors, which is primarily a mathematical equation. Using the birch method in the SLED lab, he used three grams of

pseudoephedrine to produce 2.7 grams of methamphetamine (92% yield). Based on his training and experience, Capt. Brooks testified the yield rates depend on the method used and other factors, and the lowest yield rate was 40% to 50% pseudoephedrine to methamphetamine. (TT, pp. 448-449; R., pp.167-168).

Capt. Brooks' testimony clearly reveals his extensive knowledge, training and experience regarding methamphetamine manufacturing. As part of his training and experience, he learned there is a mathematical formula for calculating the amount of methamphetamine that can be manufactured from a given amount of pseudoephedrine, how to use the formula and factors affecting the yield rate. Notably, he did not render an opinion of the specific yield in this case, but merely testified the general yield rates ranged from 40% (worst case scenario) to 92% percent (best case scenario).

Appellant does not contest the fact methamphetamine can be manufactured from pseudoephedrine, but argues an expert chemist was required to testify about the yield rates. Published DEA data, however, indicates the typical yield rate is 50% to 75%, and the United States Sentencing Guidelines Commission used that data to establish a conversion rate of 50% pseudoephedrine to methamphetamine for sentencing purposes in federal courts. *See* U.S.S.G. §2D1.1, n. 8(D) (Drug Conversion Tables); *see also* United States v. Stacy, 769 F.3d 969, 977 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2014) (sentencing guidelines use yield ratio of 50% pseudoephedrine to methamphetamine based on yield rates in typical clandestine methamphetamine labs); United States v. Martin, 438 F.3d 621, 625, 633-636 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2006) (discussing basis for 50% conversion rate); U.S. Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, GAO-13-204, 6-7 (January 31, 2013)

(discussing conversion process and noting certain methods result in 90% to 95% conversion rates).

In short, the yield rates at issue are generally accepted and well-documented. Thus, Capt. Brooks was not required to be a chemist, personally develop the yield rates, or even know all the technical science behind the process, in order to testify as an expert about the generally accepted yield rates. *See People v. Reatherford*, 345 Ill.App.3d 327, 802 N.E.2d 340, 347 (2003) (police officer properly qualified as an expert in manufacturing methamphetamine and allowed to testify regarding yield rates of pseudoephedrine to methamphetamine based on his training and experience). Any purported “defects” in Capt. Brooks’ education and experience go to the weight of his testimony, not its admissibility. *Baker*, 2015 WL 543493, \*9.

There is ample evidence in the record to support the circuit court’s qualification of Capt. Brooks as an expert in clandestine methamphetamine labs, and admission of his testimony regarding the range of yield rates from such labs. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion, and its rulings should be affirmed.

**II. The circuit court properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion because there was ample evidence from which a reasonable juror could find her guilty of trafficking over twenty-eight grams of methamphetamine.**

Appellant asserts the circuit court erred in denying her directed verdict motion because there was no evidence any amount of methamphetamine was actually possessed, produced, or trafficked within the timeframe of the investigation, and because experts disagree on yield rates, the State's evidence regarding the amount of methamphetamine produced was speculative. On the contrary, there was direct evidence Appellant possessed, produced and trafficked methamphetamine in 2011, and substantial circumstantial evidence of the amount of methamphetamine Appellant and Mealor manufactured during that time.

When ruling on a directed verdict motion, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight, and must deny the motion when the State presents any direct evidence, or substantial circumstantial evidence, to prove guilt. State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 667 S.E.2d 728, 733 (2008); State v. Phillips, 411 S.C. 124, 767 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2014). In reviewing the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State, and find the case was properly submitted to the jury if there is sufficient direct and/or circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove guilt. State v. Lane, 410 S.C. 505, 765 S.E.2d 557, 558 (2014); State v. Lynch, 2015 WL 1237248, \*7 (S.C. Ct. App., filed March 18, 2015) (same); Phillips, 767 S.E.2d at 448 (same) "Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error." State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 605 S.E.2d 529, 531 (2004); State v. Bennett, 408 S.C. 302, 758 S.E.2d 743, 745 (Ct.

App. 2014) (same).

Direct evidence is based on personal knowledge or observation, and immediately establishes the fact to be proved, while circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances from which the jury may infer the existence of a separate fact. Phillips, 767 S.E.2d at 448 (citations omitted). If the State relies **exclusively** on circumstantial evidence to prove guilt, that evidence must be “substantial” to justify denying a directed verdict motion. *Id.*

In this case, the State presented the following evidence:

1. NPLEX records documented numerous purchases of pseudoephedrine by Appellant and her co-defendants at multiple pharmacies between January and December 2011. (State’s Exhibits 1-40; R., pp. 222-398);
2. Co-defendant Rebecca Crisp testified she gave all the Sudafed she purchased during that time to another co-defendant who lived in the home with Appellant and Mealor, she saw methamphetamine used there, as well as plastic bottles and batteries with the labels peeled off there, and she detected a “toxic” smell there a few times. (TT, pp. 138-147; R., pp. 36-45);
3. Co-defendant Steven Hurley testified he purchased Sudafed for Appellant, who told him the legal limits he could purchase, and gave one-half of what he purchased in 2011 to Appellant in exchange for methamphetamine. (TT, pp. 213-216; R., pp. 66-69);
4. Co-defendant Kelley McCall testified she gave her 2011 Sudafed purchases to Appellant and Mealor, and a few days later they gave her a bag of methamphetamine; Appellant told her they could make methamphetamine cheaper and cleaner than what they could buy on the street; she saw many plastic bottles where Appellant lived, and Appellant said they could feel expand better than glass bottles; and when she noticed a strong odor in the home, Appellant told her the less she knew, the better. (TT, pp. 241-252; R., pp. 70-81);
5. Co-defendant Angela Armstrong testified she purchased 12.81 grams of Sudafed in 2011, gave all but .77 grams to Appellant and Mealor, and several days later, she received methamphetamine in return; Appellant and Mealor told her they were making methamphetamine, and said they could

make it cheaper and better. (TT, pp. 275-280, 294-296; R., pp. 82-87, 88-90);

6. Co-defendant Melissa Wardlaw testified she gave one-half of the Sudafed she purchased in 2011 to Mealor, who gave her the money to buy it and she kept the change; she knew other people were also buying it for him, and she saw Appellant with Sudafed at times; she knew Mealor was making methamphetamine; she saw him purchase ether and batteries; and she heard Appellant and Mealor talking about cooking methamphetamine and saying they could do it.<sup>4</sup> (TT, pp. 312-331, R., pp. 91-110).

7. Co-defendant Thomas Rooney testified he gave at least two boxes of his 2011 Sudafed purchases to Appellant and Mealor, in exchange for methamphetamine and money; he saw Appellant and Mealor use the shake and bake method to make methamphetamine in their bedroom “quite a few” times; he saw plastic bottles, big bottles of Coleman fuel, and cut open batteries at the home; and he smelled a strong ammonia type smell in the home when they were making the methamphetamine. (TT, pp. 361-371; R., pp. 111-121);

8. Co-defendant Billy Miller testified he gave all his 2011 Sudafed purchases to Appellant and Mealor in exchange for methamphetamine, and they told him they were making methamphetamine. (TT, pp. 384-397; R., pp. 122-133);

9. Co-defendant Lauren Summerall testified she and her husband purchased Sudafed for Appellant and Mealor in 2011 in exchange for money and methamphetamine, and they knew Appellant and Mealor were making methamphetamine with the Sudafed they provided. (TT, pp. 393-397; R., pp.129-133 );

10. Co-defendant Michael Hayes testified he gave all of his 2011 Sudafed purchases to Mealor in exchange for methamphetamine, which he picked up a few days after he provided the Sudafed. (TT, pp. 407-414; R., pp. 134-141);

11. Co-defendant Amanda Hurley testified Appellant and Mealor gave her and her husband money to purchase Sudafed in 2011, and they gave

---

<sup>4</sup>Wardlaw originally told law enforcement she saw Mealor cooking methamphetamine using the shake and bake method several times after people gave him pseudoephedrine, and he purchased other ingredients he needed from the hardware store. At trial, she claimed she lied to law enforcement because she was mad at Appellant and Mealor. When confronted with specific discrepancies, however, Wardlaw’s memory conveniently got hazy regarding which parts of her earlier statement were lies. (TT, pp. 316-328; R., pp. 95-107).

about one-half of their 2011 Sudafed purchases to Appellant and Mealor. (TT, pp. 516-521; R., pp. 183-188).

12. In addition to the pseudoephedrine they received from the co-defendants, Appellant and Mealor each purchased over sixty-five grams of pseudoephedrine in 2011. (State's Exhibits 1 [Mealor] and 2 [Greenfield]; R., pp. 222, 227); and

13. Capt. Brooks testified pseudoephedrine, ether, Coleman fuel and lithium (from cut open batteries) are used in the shake and bake method of making methamphetamine; plastic bottles are used rather than glass bottles because the plastic expands more the person can feel when the pressure builds, and they are less likely to explode so they are generally safer; methamphetamine manufacturers use other people to purchase pseudoephedrine for them in order to avoid the legal limitations (smurfing); based on his training and experience, the yield rates of pseudoephedrine to methamphetamine are from 40% to 92%; bottles used in the shake and bake method are easy to clean or discard so they are very portable for use as a methamphetamine lab; and the manufacturing process creates a very strong ammonia smell (TT, pp. 439-462; R., pp. 158-181).

Thus, there was both direct and substantial circumstantial evidence Appellant and Mealor manufactured methamphetamine from pseudoephedrine they personally purchased and/or received from the co-defendants in 2011.

Capt. Brooks testified the generally accepted yield rates range from 40% to 92% pseudoephedrine to methamphetamine. As discussed above in Issue I, the federal courts use a 50% yield rate to calculate the appropriate base offense level for sentencing purposes in manufacturing methamphetamine cases, which was based on data compiled by the DEA, and is well within the range given by Capt. Brooks. Even expert disagreements about yield rates do not make Capt. Brooks' testimony mere speculation. See Martin, 438 F.3d at 636 (differences of opinion in the scientific community about yield rates did not render the 50% yield rate adopted by the Sentencing Commission arbitrary and capricious).

The evidence, including NPLEX records and testimony, revealed Appellant received and/or purchased 248.4 grams pseudoephedrine in 2011.<sup>5</sup> The following chart indicates how many grams of methamphetamine could be produced from that amount of pseudoephedrine, using yield rates ranging from 40% to 90%:

Pseud.	<u>40%</u>	<u>50%</u>	<u>60%</u>	<u>70%</u>	<u>80%</u>	<u>90%</u>
<b>248.4</b>	99.36	124.2	149.04	173.88	198.72	223.56

Assuming for argument purposes the pseudoephedrine Appellant personally purchased was used for medicinal purposes, the following chart shows the grams of methamphetamine that could be produced just from the pseudoephedrine Appellant received from the co-defendants:

Pseud.	<u>40%</u>	<u>50%</u>	<u>60%</u>	<u>70%</u>	<u>80%</u>	<u>90%</u>
<b>179.76</b>	71.904	89.88	107.856	125.832	143.808	161.784

Under either scenario, the **minimum** methamphetamine yield far exceeded 28 grams.<sup>6</sup>

Appellant's contention a directed verdict was warranted because law enforcement did not find or seize a methamphetamine lab, or a large stash of pseudoephedrine, from Appellant is unavailing. As set forth above, there was direct testimony Appellant and Mealor manufactured methamphetamine in their home, co-defendants saw items in their home that are commonly associated with manufacturing methamphetamine (plastic

---

<sup>5</sup>Appellant contends the totals were speculative because some co-defendants used the pseudoephedrine for medicinal purposes; however, the State only attributed to Appellant the amounts each co-defendant testified they gave to her.

<sup>6</sup>Appellant's argument regarding potentially lengthy investigations is a red-herring. The investigation in this case lasted one year, which is certainly reasonable for an investigation into a methamphetamine manufacturing conspiracy.

bottles and cut open lithium batteries), and some people detected a strong ammonia-like odor in the home.

Further, the evidence established Appellant and Meador found out in November 2011 they were being investigated, but they were not arrested until June 2012, and methamphetamine labs, particularly the shake and bake version, are very portable and easily discarded. (TT, pp. 450-451, R., pp. 169-170). Therefore, it is reasonably inferable Appellant and Meador were much more careful after November 2011, and promptly discarded any evidence of methamphetamine manufacturing in their home.

There was ample direct and circumstantial evidence from which the jury could find beyond a reasonable doubt Appellant conspired with others and manufactured in excess of 28 grams methamphetamine in 2011. Therefore, the circuit court properly submitted the case to the jury, and its ruling should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

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